
The Town of Laurel 
Mayor & Council Meeting Minutes 

October 20, 2025 
 

A Mayor & Council Meeting was held at Laurel Town Hall in the Mayor & Council Chambers on 
Monday, October 20, 2025, beginning at 7:00 p.m. The following persons were in attendance 
Mayor Carlos Oliveras, President of Council Chris Calio, Jim LaRue, RogJenea Fisher, George 
Lodato, Jonathan Kellam, and Donald Holden via ZOOM. Also, in attendance were Public Works 
Director James Foskey, Chief Robert Kracyla, Judge Ruffin, Recording Secretary Alexis Oliphant, 
and Town Manager Smith. It was noted that Director of Code Enforcement Position is vacant, and 
Finance Manager Melissa Cassimore is absent.  
 
Chief Kracyla presented the Police Promotion Ceremony to Senior Corporal Daniel Howard. He 
stated S/Cpl. Howards roles include being a fleet manager and an intelligence officer within the 
department.  
 
Chief Kracyla presented the Officer of the Quarter 2025 Certificate to PFC Jeremy Adams.  
 
Mayor Oliveras stated Mrs. Anne Marie Townsend from the ROSSI Group is in attendance tonight 
to present a presentation pertaining to the Downtown Development District (DDD) Renewal. Mrs. 
Townsend stated her group was hired by the town to update and complete the DDD Renewal. It 
was noted that town has been designated a DDD since 2016. Mrs. Townsend reviewed a 
PowerPoint Presentation (attached). She explained the purpose of the renewal process is to provide 
updates and impact data to the state to show there is still a need for the DDD designated area. The 
proposed DDD map (attached) includes two lines with the dotted line being the existing district 
boundaries and the black line being the proposed new district boundary. The proposed DDD would 
include 102 acres and extend the boundaries to the southwestern portion of town, along West Street 
to include Townsend Street to Elm Street and west to Center Street back down West and picking 
up 7th Street to the properties fronting Sixth Street between the railroad tracks and Poplar Street. 
The proposed renewal would remove the town parks and land from the boundaries, as the town is 
not eligible to receive DDD Funding.  The towns current DDD incentives include a five-year tax 
abatement and reduction of water and wastewater impact fees. The towns proposed DDD 
incentives would be phasing in the property taxes over the five years and a partial reduction of 
building permit fees. She advised the tax climb will be a 25% increase throughout the five years. 
Mrs. Townsend provided key projects in the town including the Promenade, Davelli’s Bagel Café, 
102 E. Front Street, Central Avenue Mixed-Use, 113 North Central Avenue, and the Laurel Senior 
Center. She stated the next steps are to submit the completed DDD application to the Office of 
State Planning, and to attend a Cabinet Meeting in 2026. Mrs. Townsend inquired if Mayor & 
Council had any questions. 
 
Councilman LaRue inquired if small companies who have completed residential projects are 
eligible in receiving funding and/or incentives. Mrs. Townsend stated a small project application 
must be submitted no later than 45 days after the completion of the project in order to receive 
funding. She advised larger project applications are submitted prior to the beginning of the project 
in order to receive funding.  
 



 
Mayor & Council Meeting  
October 20, 2025 
Page. 2 
 
President of Council Calio questioned if the proposed incentives are assessed smaller than what 
the existing incentives are and will this cause a reduction of projects submitted. Mrs. Townsend 
stated the biggest incentive developers will still be receiving is the 20% from the state. She 
explained one of the concerns made aware in the focus group is the towns building permits fees 
were higher compared to other jurisdictions.  
 
Councilman Lodato inquired if the tax structure is only for owner occupied. Mrs. Townsend stated 
it is not intended and if the town wishes to make it specific to homeownership they may do so.  
 
Councilman Lodato listed his questions/concerns pertaining the DDD Renewal.  

(1.) He stated investors were invited to a meeting on April 24, 2025, where only 3 people 
attended. He inquired if Mayor & Council and/or residents could have been invited. 

(2.) He stated interviewers addressed the concern of vacant homes within the town, which he 
stated is still an ongoing issue since 2016. 

(3.)  He stated former Director of Code Enforcement West stated the code enforcement has 
limited capabilities with a staff of one full time position and two part time positions and he 
still proposes that the code department moves under the police department.  

(4.) He raised the concern regarding the Vacant House Ordinance stating 404 S. Central 
Avenue is vacant and inquired if they have been assessed fee’s.  

(5.) He addressed the concern to enhance commercial viability, walkability, and overall 
livability.  

(6.) He raised the concern how to ensure the commercial center along Market Street is 
attractive and welcoming to visitors and walkers. 

 
Mayor Oliveras stated he agreed with Councilman Lodato’s concerns and he understand it’s an 
area the town needs to address and we notice it is a weakness.  
 
Mrs. Townsend stated in order for the Mayor & Council to attend a Focus Group Meeting it would 
need to be published. The Focus Group was primarily for investors who have utilized the program 
and to provide any suggestions for improvements. A total of nine investors were invited at the 
Focus Group Meeting and only three R.S.V.P. She stated public input could have taken place at 
October’s P&Z Meeting or at tonight’s M&C Meeting.   
 
Mrs. Townsend stated code enforcement is challenging due to a resourcing issue, the difficulty of 
enforcing the vacant property ordinance, and homeowners having private property rights.  
 
Mr. Don Phillips, addressed the concern about driving the cost of development down for the 
developer of the property.  
 
Mrs. Amy Handy, stated the importance of giving residents an input on what is being developed 
in the town.  



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page. 3 
 
Town Manager Smith stated the DDD is a program that allows developers and property owners to 
receive funding for home improvements. With this renewal it allows the town to extend the DDD 
Map to allow for more historical properties to take advantage of this program.  
 
A resident, inquired if all properties within town are eligible to receive funding. Town Manager 
Smith stated the program is made available who’s properties are designated in the area and the 
boundaries are based on the towns population. An applicant must submit their application through 
Delaware State Housing Authority, which determines if the applicant is eligible to receive funding.  
 
A resident, inquired if there was any funding available who are not eligible for the program. Town 
Manager Smith stated residents can apply for the Community Block Development Grant from 
Sussex County.  
 
Town Manager Smith stated the town sends out a vacant ordinance notice to the alleged property.  
If the property owner does not pay the fee it is then placed on their taxes and if the fee is still not 
paid the town will take the property to a sheriff sale.  
 
Town Manager Smith stated the town adopted the Design Standards shortly after the town was 
designated a DDD. She stated the design standards are recommendations only and are not 
requirements.  
 
Town Manager Smith stated per the towns zoning ordinance the town does not require commercial 
signage.  
 
Mayor Oliveras stated Mr. Dave Chrimonas from the Boys & Girls Club is in attendance tonight 
to provide an update. Mr. Chrimonas stated he is the Team Director for the Boys & Girls Club in 
Sussex County. Currently the Boys & Girls Club in the Town of Laurel has the following programs: 

• After School-Program (Averaging 100 kids). 
• Laurel Middle School Program Monday - Thursday, 2:30 p.m. – 5:30 p.m. (20-25 kids).  
• Teen Project Program Monday – Thursday, 8:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. (20-25 Kids) 
• Friday Night Total Teen Takeover (40 to 50 kids). 
• Workforce Development Program (11 kids have been hired after being trained by the club). 
• Continuing to work with O.W.L. and One-Laurel.  

 
Mayor Oliveras stated Mr. Don Phillips, from the Villas, is in attendance tonight pertaining the 
consideration of Meadow Planting. Mr. Phillips stated the Villa’s currently has one lot that is 
undevelopable, and they have been working with DNREC to install a meadow to help make the 
land healthy and resourceful. Mr. Phillips proposes the town to amend the zoning ordinance to 
allow the support of a meadow.  
 
 
 



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page. 4 
 
The Mayor & Council Regular and Closed Session Minutes of September 15, 2025, were presented 
for review. President of Council Calio made a motion to accept the regular and closed session 
minutes of September 15, 2025. Councilman Lodato seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
The September 2025 Department Head Reports were presented for review. 
 

• Public Works Foskey stated the fence at Webb Avenue Courts was repaired and installed, 
a broken water service at 2nd street has been repaired, 6 benches have been placed in at 
Tidewater Park, a meter pit has been installed at 109 Carvel Avenue, septic receiving has 
removed 16 tons of sludge, and Transite Phase 4 will going out to bid shortly.   

 
A resident thanked Public Works Director Foskey for changing the pole light pertaining to the flag 
court at Janosik Park.  
 

• Judge Ruffin stated the court is focusing on receivables and they’re trying to reduce the 
money owed to the town.  

 
• Chief Kracyla attended the Sussex Co. Guns of Lower Delaware, met with the Delaware 

Prosperity Group, met with Byron Short from Rep. McBride’s office, and attended the 
ECVN Summit at Delaware State University. He thanked Captain Bryan for executing the 
Homecoming Parade detail.  
 

• Town Manager Smith stated Wawa submitted an amended Preliminary Site Plan that no 
longer features a fast-food restaurant or another commercial pad. She stated NeighborGood 
Partners submitted a Concept Plan on Discount Land Road proposing a residential/mixed 
used owner-occupied development. She met with members of the Laurel Historical Society 
pertaining Laurel Heritage Day. The Laurel Historical Society will have Hitchens 
Homestead open and provide youth activities for the event. The Laurel Intermediate 
National Honor Society are proposing to decorate 6 light poles as holiday themed 
characters beginning in mid-November with the removal of decorations in January. 
 

Councilman Lodato made a motion to accept the September Department Head Reports as 
presented. Councilman Kellam seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Town Manager Smith presented the Water Tower Concern Response. Town Manager Smith 
advised she received a list of questions pertaining to the water tower and she worked closely with 
Public Works Director Foskey and Mr. Jim Hoageson, Engineer. Town Manager Smith stated the 
Fire Chief expressed his concerns of having a tower on the South Side of Broad Creek. Please find 
attached the Water Tower Concern Response as presented by Town Manager Smith.  
 
 



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page.5 
 
Mrs. Cheryl Barber, resident of Gibson Avenue, inquired when the deadline for the grant needs to 
be submitted. Town Manager Smith stated the grant was submitted and awarded a year ago and a 
decision needs to be made tonight pertaining to the resolution.  
 
Mrs. Barber, inquired how long it will take for the water tower to be constructed. Public Works 
Director Foskey stated approximately it will take 6 to 8 months.  
 
Mrs. Barber, inquired if the town looked into the property where the basketball courts reside at 
North Laurel Elementary School. Town Manager Smith stated this is not town property.  
 
Mrs. Barber inquired if the town could locate the proposed water tower next to the Poplar Street 
Water Tower. Town Manager Smith stressed the importance of having a water tower located on the 
south side of Broad Creek.  
 
Mrs. Barber stated she believes the town was not transparent with this project. Town Manager 
Smith stated this project was discussed over a year ago with Mayor & Council.  
 
Mrs. Barber inquired if the new water tower will increase residents water bills. Town Manager 
Smith stated no, there will be no increase, due to the installation of this water as the town will be 
receiving 12 million dollars at 100% principal forgiveness.  
 
Councilman Lodato inquired about the water flow. Public Works Director Foskey stated it will be 
a self-contained well and will be around 250,000-gallon capacity. 
 
Mayor Oliveras presented Resolution 2025-7 pertaining DWSRF Loans. Town Manager Smith 
stated this resolution is for the town to receive 12 million dollars with 100% principal forgiveness 
for the installation of the water tower and well at Dunbar. President of Council Calio made a motion 
to accept the Resolution 2025-7. Councilwoman Fisher seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Mayor Oliveras presented the 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2025-2 pertaining Chapter 97 Licenses. 
Town Manager Smith stated the approval of this ordinance will require a non-legal property owner 
to be required to pay a rental license. President of Council Calio made a motion to accept the 2nd 
and Final Reading of Ordinance 2025-2. Councilman LaRue seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Mayor Oliveras presented the Draft Reading of Ordinance 2025-3 pertaining Chapter 55 Brush, 
Grass, and Weeds. Town Manager Smith presented the following as recommended by DNREC to 
include: the approval by Mayor and Council for the planting of a pollinator, meadows, cultivated 
flowers, and similar plants are exception to this rule. When the plantings of pollinator meadows, 
cultivated flowers or other similar plants die back at the end of the season, they must be cut to a 
minimum of six inches. President of Council Calio made a motion to accept the 1st Reading of 
Ordinance 2025-3. Councilman Lodato seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page. 6 
 
Councilman LaRue inquired if the town is considering in changing the height of the grass. Town 
Manager Smith advised she is not in recommendation for increasing the height of the grass to 8 
inches from 6 inches. She advised a violation notice is sent out and a violator has within 7 days to  
resolve the grass violation and if it is not resolved the town issues a work order and the grass could 
have easily grown by 2 to 3 inches more.  
 
Mayor Oliveras presented the DSHA Voluntary Tech Assistance Program Consideration. Town 
Manager Smith stated the DSHA announced in mid-September they’re accepting applications for 
a Voluntary Tech Assistance Pilot Program. The Program would include updating the Zoning 
Ordinance to include the following seven areas to choose from, which are 

(1.) Permit accessory dwelling units (ADU’s) and “missing middle” housing in residential 
zones. 

(2.) Permit manufactured/modular homes in single-family residential zones. 
(3.) Create pre-viewed design plans or “pattern books.” 
(4.) Reduce lot sizes and bulk standards to achieve greater density. 
(5.) Allow taller multi-family and mixed-used developments. 
(6.) Establish an inclusionary zoning program for affordable/workforce housing. 
(7.) Permit higher-density, mixed-use developments in commercial areas.  

After review, Town Manager Smith recommended option #1 as the town currently does not allow, 
however in R-1 Zoning it meets the current minimum lot size (75x100). President of Council Calio 
made a motion to update the Zoning Ordinance to allow for Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s). 
Councilman Lodato seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0. 
 
Mayor Oliveras presented the Laurel Public Library Parking Request. Town Manager Smith stated 
the town received a letter from the Laurel Public Library requesting designated parking for their 
employees along Delaware Avenue. Town Manager Smith stated this request differs from what is 
currently addressed in our parking policy and she has had discussions with Public Works Director 
Foskey and Chief Kracyla pertaining this request. Town Manager Smith provided three options: 

(1.) Deny the Request. 
(2.) Approve the request as an exception- Grant the Library’s requested based on it’s 

community serving function, with the understanding it may lead to a precedent. 
(3.) Approve a modified version – Consider time or signage restrictions, Would recommend 

the Laurel Public Library to purchase signage as they are a private entity.  
After a brief discussion, President of Council Calio made a motion to deny the request for the 
allowance of parking along Delaware Avenue for the Laurel Public Library Employees. 
Councilman LaRue seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Mayor Oliveras presented the Oak Street Parking Request Consideration. Town Manager Smith 
stated this is an appeal of the decision made at the previous council meeting. The Mayor & Council 
previously denied the request, per the policy, as the resident has an existing driveway. Town 
Manager Smith stated the resident has stated that driveway does not provide sufficient space to  
 



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page. 7 
 
safely and easily load and unload a wheelchair and occupant from their vehicle. Town Manager 
Smith presented two options: 

(1.) Defer the request and revisit it a later date if parking availability becomes an issue. 
(2.) Grant an exception based on the specific circumstances, with the understanding that doing 

so may establish a precedent for future similar requests.  
After a brief discussion, Council Holden made a motion to deny the appeal pertaining to the Oak 
Street Parking Request. Councilman Kellam seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Mayor Oliveras presented Resolution 2025-8 pertaining to the Application for the Extension for 
the Downtown Development District Renewal as presented. President of Council Calio made a 
motion to accept Resolution 2025-8. Councilman LaRue seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0.  
 
Town Manager Smith presented the 8th Annual Trunk or Treat and Trick or Treat 2025 Dates. The 
town will be holding their 8th Annual Trunk or Treat on Saturday, October 25, 2025, from 7:00 
p.m. to 9:00 p.m. at the Laurel Elementary School -Bus Parking Lot. Line-up will begin at 6:00 
p.m. on Evergreen Drive. Trick or Treat will be held on Friday, October 31, 2025, from 6:00 p.m. 
to 8:00 p.m.  
 
Councilman LaRue thanked the town staff for their hard work. 
 
Councilwoman Fisher thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting. She thanked everyone 
who attended the Laurel Youth Council Brainstorm Meeting.  
 
Councilman Lodato thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting and thanked the Department 
Head Reports for providing a brief synopsis of their reports to the public.  
 
Councilman Lodato advised the main concern of residents pertaining the water tower is that they 
felt left out during the process.  
 
Councilman Lodato addressed his concern with items he believes should still be considered Old 
Business on the agenda. Town Manager Smith stated she is still awaiting to hear back from the 
attorney prior to listing Councilman Lodato’s concerns on the agenda.  
 
Councilman Lodato inquired if the towns website could be better utilized by providing more 
information to the community. He recommended the town to review the City of Milford’s website.  
 
President of Council Calio stated the town has great playgrounds but will be looking at 
recommendations for playground improvements in next year’s budget.  
 
Councilman Kellam thanked the town staff for all their hard work and the resident participation 
here tonight.  
 



Mayor & Council Meeting 
October 20, 2025 
Page. 8 
 
Town Manager Smith stated the town’s Christmas Parade will be held on Friday, December 5, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. with line-up beginning on Evergreen Drive at 6:00 p.m. This year’s theme is a 
“Whooville Christmas.” 
 
Councilman Holden inquired on behalf of the principal at the North Laurel Elementary School and 
the School Resource Officer if Wilson Street could be made a one-way street. Town Manager 
Smith stated Wilson Street is a town-owned street but should reach out to Del-Dot as Wilson Street 
connects to a state-maintained road.  
 
Mayor Oliveras stated Councilman Kellam was awarded a Community Impact Award for his 
commitment to the town.  
 
Mayor Oliveras thanked Councilwoman Fisher for hosting the Laurel Youth Council Brainstorm 
Meeting.  
 
Mayor Oliveras stated Habitat for Humanity held their Rock the Block this past month. 
 
Mayor Oliveras stated he attended the Homecoming Parade and it was well attended.  
 
President of Council Calio made a motion to hold a closed session to discuss personnel matters. 
Councilman Holden seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0. 
 
Regular Session Recessed at 9:39 p.m. 
 
Regular Session Reconvened at 11:04 p.m. 
 
With there being no further business, Councilman Kellam made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
President of Council Calio seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0. 
 
Meeting Adjourned at 11:05 p.m.          
         Mayor 
 
 
              
         President of Council 
 
     
Town Manager 
 
 
     
Operations Manager 


